Case: 5:13-cv-01073 Doc #: 1 Filed: 05/10/13 1 of 13. PagelD #: 1

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO
EASTERN DIVISION-AKRON

CINDA KEENER, SUSAN KELLEY,
RYAN CHIZMADIA, and

KATHERINE MANFULL

Plaintiffs, Civil Action No.

V.

COMPLAINT

NATIONAL NURSES ORGANIZING
COMMITTEE,

Defendant.

INTRODUCTION

This case regards breaches of the duty of fair representation committed by the
National Nurses Organizing Committee (‘NNOC”). Plaintiffs Cinda Keener, Susan
Kelley, Ryan Chizmadia, and Katherine Manfull are registered nurses employed by
Affinity Medical Center in Massillon, Ohio. In November 2012, it was revealed that
NNOC is a party to a secret agreement with Affinity in which the union pre-
negotiated health, dental, life insurance, and retirement benefit concessions in
exchange for the employer’s assistance with unionizing its registered nurses.

NNOQC, like all unions, owes a duty of fair representation to employees that it
1s empowered to exclusively represent. NNOC is breaching its fiduciary duties by
concealing from Plaintiffs and their co-workers its secret agreement with their
employer, by granting Affinity control over the union’s conduct as an employee

representative, and by agreeing to compromise Plaintiffs’ interests at the bargaining
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table to satiate the union’s self-interest in gaining more dues-paying members. In
this suit, Plaintiffs seek a declaratory judgment that NNOC is breaching its duty of
fair representation, injunctive relief, monetary damages for injuries that they suffer,
and nominal damages.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE
1. This Court has jurisdiction over this case under 28 U.S.C. § 1337, because it arises
under the National Labor Relations Act (“NLRA”), 29 U.S.C. § 151 et seq., and under
28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 and 2202, because declaratory relief is sought.
2. Venue is proper in this judicial district under 28 U.S.C. § 1391 because the events
giving rise to the case occurred in this judicial district and NNOC does business and
purports to represent employees in this judicial district.

PARTIES

3. Defendant NNOC is a labor organization within the meaning of NLRA § 2(5),
29 U.S.C. § 152(5) and has its principal office at 2000 Franklin Street, Oakland,
California, 94612.
4. Plaintiffs Cinda Keener, Susan Kelley, and Katherine Manfull each reside in
Stark County and are employed as registered nurses at Affinity Medical Center in
Massillon Ohio. Plaintiff Ryan Chizmadia resides in Wayne County and is also

employed as a registered nurse at Affinity Medical Center in Massillon Ohio.
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FACTS

I. The Election Procedures Agreement
5. DHSC LLC, d/b/a Affinity Medical Center (“Affinity”) is a Delaware limited-
liability company with an office and place of business at 875 Eighth Street N.E.,
Massillon, Ohio, 44646, where it operates an acute care hospital that will hereafter
be referred to as the “Medical Center.” Affinity is an employer within the meaning of
NLRA § 2(2), 29 U.S.C. § 152(2).
6. Affinity is owned and operated by Community Health Systems (“CHS”), a
Delaware corporation that directly or indirectly owns, operates, or leases over 100
hospitals throughout the nation.
7. In July 2012, Plaintiffs and other registered nurses employed by Affinity at its
Medical Center were not represented by any union.
8. In late July 2012, Affinity announced to its registered nurses that it was a party to
an “election procedures agreement” with NNOC that permits the union to conduct
an organizing campaign within the Medical Center. Immediately thereafter, NNOC
initiated a campaign to unionize Plaintiffs and their fellow registered nurses.
9. Pursuant to the election procedures agreement, Affinity assisted NNOC’s efforts
to unionize its registered nurses by providing several valuable things and services to
the union, to include:

a. granting NNOC organizers access to and use of Affinity’s private property

to conduct their organizing campaign, to include non-public areas of the

Medical Center and areas where solicitors are generally not permitted;
3
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b. providing NNOC with information about its nonunion registered nurses, to
include their home addresses, telephone numbers, and job classifications; and
c. providing NNOC with control over Affinity’s communications, to include a
gag-clause that prohibits the company from providing information to its
employees about unionization and a requirement that Affinity engage in
certain communications at the behest of NNOC.
This employer assistance collectively will be referred to as “Organizing Assistance.”
10. The Organizing Assistance, both individually and cumulatively, has significant
value to NNOC because, among other things:
a. NNOC demanded the assistance from Affinity and/or CHS and has
demanded similar organizing assistance from other employers;
b. NNOC provided consideration to Affinity and/or CHS in exchange for the
Organizing Assistance—to include promises of labor peace, restrictions on
1ts own organizing activities, and pre-negotiated bargaining concessions—and
has provided similar consideration to other employers in exchange for
assistance with unionizing their nonunion employees;
c. the Organizing Assistance is useful, and subjectively believed useful by
NNOC, for unionizing employees because, among other things: (i) access to
an employer’s property allows NNOC to solicit employees at their workplace,
(i1) information about nonunion employees allows NNOC to solicit employees
at their homes, (ii1) the gag-clause prevents the employer from campaigning

against unionization and deprives employees of information about negative
4
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aspects of unionization or the NNOC, and (iv) the assistance facilitated
NNOC’s organizing campaign at the Medical Center and campaigns against
employees at other facilities; and
d. the Organizing Assistance has substantial monetary value because:
(1) it reduces NNOC’s expenses for conducting in organizing campaign,
(1) it increases the likelihood that targeted employees will be unionized and
compelled to pay dues and fees to NNOC as a condition of their employment,
and (111) Affinity expends money to maintain its property and information
about its employees, and could charge other persons or organizations for the
right to use its private property, confidential business information, and
communications to solicit its employees.
11. In addition to the Organizing Assistance, in the election procedures agreement
Affinity also agreed to allow its registered nurses to be unionized by means of an
expedited consent election that is nominally conducted by the National Labor
Relations Board (“NLRB”), but in which any challenges or objections to the election
are resolved not by the NLRB, but by a private arbitrator.
II. The Organizing Campaign
12. On 20 August 2012, NNOC requested an expedited consent election. An election
was conducted only nine (9) days later on 29 August 2012. The unofficial tally of
ballots indicated 100 votes for NNOC, 96 against NNOC, and 7 challenged ballots.
13. On 5 September 2012, Affinity filed objections with the NLRB alleging that the

election results did not reflect employee free choice because they were tainted by
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several acts of NNOC misconduct. However, under the election procedures
agreement, Affinity was precluded from submitting evidence to the NLRB in support
of its objections. The objections were thereby dismissed as unproven.

14. Also on 5 September 2012, Plaintiffs Keener and Kelley moved to intervene in
the election to object to several acts of NNOC misconduct that tainted the election.
However, an NLRB Regional office summarily dismissed their intervention motion
the next day and the NLRB later upheld that order on 11 January 2013.

15. On 5 October 2012, the NLRB certified NNOC as the exclusive representative of
Plaintiffs and other registered nurses at the Medical Center. Since that time, NNOC
has held itself out as being their exclusive representative. NNOC is now pursuing
legal actions before the NLRB to compel Affinity to recognize and bargain with it as
the exclusive representative of its registered nurses.

16. To date, Affinity refuses to recognize or bargain with NNOC based on its
objections to the election and on other grounds. Plaintiffs Keener and Kelley also
continue to attempt to object to the certification of the NNOC as their exclusive
representative.

17. At approximately the same times these events were occurring at Affinity, the
election procedures agreement was also used against registered nurses at two other
nonunion hospitals owned or operated by CHS: Bluefield Regional Medical Center
(“Bluefield”) in Bluefield, West Virginia, and Greenbrier Valley Medical Center
(“Greenbrier”) in Ronceverte, West Virginia. The sequence of events at these

locations was similar to that which occurred at Affinity: the employers provided
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organizing assistance to NNOC in July and August 2012; expedited elections were
held in late August 2012; objections to electoral misconduct by NNOC were
disregarded because the employers could not offer evidence in support of their
objections; and the NNOC was certified as the exclusive representative of the
employers’ registered nurses over the employers’ continuing objections.
III. Existence of Secret Pre-Negotiated Agreement Revealed
18. On or about 17 November 2012, Plaintiffs and other registered nurses at the
Medical Center became aware of a confidential NNOC proposal for a collective
bargaining agreement intended for the union’s internal bargaining committee.
19. NNOC'’s contract proposal states that the union pre-negotiated several important
terms of employment with Affinity. Specifically:
a. Article 17 states that the “Health Plan and Dental Plan” is “pre-negotiated,
language to follow;”
b. Article 18 states that “Life Insurance” is “pre-negotiated, language to
follow;”
c. Article 19 states that the “Retirement Plan” is “pre-negotiated language to
follow;” and
d. Article 34 states that “Substance Abuse” is “pre-negotiated [with] language
to follow.”
20. It thereby appears that NNOC, prior to becoming the ostensible representative of
Affinity’s registered nurses, entered into an agreement with Affinity and/or CHS

that governs nurses’ future health, dental, life insurance, and retirement benefits.
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This agreement will be referred to as the “Pre-Negotiated Agreement.”
21. NNOC actively concealed from Plaintiffs and other registered nurses at the
Medical Center that it is a party to an agreement with Affinity and/or CHS that
controls or will control many of their terms and conditions of employment.
22. To date, NNOC and Affinity have kept the terms of their Pre-Negotiated
Agreement secret from Plaintiffs and, on information and belief, from their fellow
registered nurses.
23. In the past, to induce employers to enter into organizing agreements, unions
have sometimes secretly agreed to make wage, benefit, and other concessions at the
expense of employees they seek to unionize in exchange for employer assistance with
unionizing those employees. On information and belief, NNOC entered into the
Pre-Negotiated Agreement as a quid pro quo for Affinity and/or CHS’s agreement to
enter into the election procedures agreement and assist NNOC with unionizing
registered nurses.
24. NNOC’s Pre-Negotiated Agreement poses a direct and significant threat to
Plaintiffs’ rights and interests, including but not limited to Plaintiffs’:

A. pecuniary and other interests in their health, dental, life insurance,
retirement, and potentially other benefits; and

B. legal interest in having a union representative with a single-minded loyalty

to their interests and that is not under the control of their employer.



Case: 5:13-cv-01073 Doc #: 1 Filed: 05/10/13 9 of 13. PagelD #: 9

CLAIMS FOR RELIEF
25. A union that acts as an exclusive representative of employees owes a fiduciary
duty of fair representation to those employees. This includes both a duty of care,
which requires adequate representation, and a duty of loyalty, which requires
non-discriminatory and good faith representation. See, e.g., ALPA v. O’Neill, 499
U.S. 65 (1991).
26. NNOC owes a duty of fair representation to Plaintiffs and other registered
nurses employed by Affinity at the Medical Center due to the NLRB’s certification of
the union and because NNOC 1is holding itself out as their exclusive representative.
27. A union breaches its duty of fair representation to employees if its conduct is
arbitrary, discriminatory, or in bad faith. This case involves bad faith conduct, i.e.,
breaches of the duty of loyalty. A union acts in bad faith if its conduct is dishonest,
disloyal, or motivated by improper purposes.
28. NNOC has and continues to act in bad faith, and thus in breach of its duty of fair
representation, for the reasons stated below in Counts I-IV.

I. Count One: Breach of Duty of Fair Representation Based on
Concealment of the Pre-Negotiated Agreement

29. A union acts dishonestly and in bad faith if it is a party to a secret agreement
with an employer that controls or affects the working conditions of represented
employees and conceals that agreement from those employees.

30. NNOC is acting in bad faith and violating its duty of fair representation by

concealing from Plaintiffs and their co-workers a Pre-Negotiated Agreement with
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Affinity and/or CHS that controls or will control the nurses’ health, dental, life
Insurance, retirement, substance abuse and potentially other benefits.

I1. Count Two: Breach of Duty of Fair Representation Based on
Divided Loyalties

31. Unions have a duty of complete loyalty to the interests of employees they
exclusively represent in collective bargaining with their employer. A union is
disloyal, and acts in bad faith, if it permits an employer to control how the union can
represent employees in collective bargaining because this creates a conflict of
Interest that renders the union a servant with two competing masters.

32. NNOC is breaching its duty of loyalty to Plaintiffs and their co-workers because
1t granted Affinity contractual control over what NNOC could seek for the nurses in
collective bargaining with Affinity, to include health, dental, life insurance,
retirement, substance abuse and potentially other benefits. NNOC is thereby acting
in bad faith and violating its duty of fair representation.

III. Count Three: Breach of Duty of Fair Representation Based on
Self-Dealing at Employees’ Expense

33. A union acts in bad faith if it engages in self-dealing with an employer at the
expense of employees that the union represents vis-a-vis that employer.

34. NNOC engaged in self-dealing by pre-negotiating health, dental, life insurance,
retirement, substance abuse and potentially other bargaining concessions at the
expense of Plaintiffs and their co-workers in exchange, quid pro quo, for Affinity
and/or CHS’s agreement to assist NNOC with unionizing its registered nurses.

NNOC thereby acted in bad faith and violated its duty of fair representation.
10
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IV. Court Four: Breach of Duty of Fair Representation Based on
Agreeing to Bargaining Concessions in Exchange for Unlawful Things
of Value from an Employer

35. A union acts in bad faith if it makes concessions at employee expense in

exchange for money or things from an employer whose payment or delivery to the

union is unlawful.

36. Section § 302(b)(1) of the Labor Management Relations Act (‘LMRA”) makes it

unlawful for a union to “request, demand, receive, or accept, or agree to receive or

accept, any payment, loan, or delivery of any money or other thing of value [from an
employer] prohibited by subsection (a) of this section.” 29 U.S.C. § 186(b)(1). Section

302(a)(2) makes it unlawful for an employer “to pay, lend, or deliver, or agree to pay,

lend, or deliver, any money or other thing of value . . . to any labor organization . . .

which represents, seeks to represent, or would admit to membership, any of the

employees of such employer.” 29 U.S.C. § 186(a)(2). Section 302(c) states nine

exceptions to these general prohibitions, 29 U.S.C. § 186(c).

37. Each type of Organizing Assistance—i.e., the use of company property for

organizing, information about nonunion employees, and control over employer

communications—is a “thing of value” under §§ 302(a) and (b) for the reasons stated

in paragraph 10, and is not subject to any of the exceptions listed in § 302(c).

38. NNOC'’s request for, receipt of, and acceptance of Organizing Assistance from

Affinity and/or CHS, and its agreement to receive and accept these “thing[s] of

value” from Affinity and/or CHS, was and is illegal under § 302(b)(1).

39. Accordingly, NNOC acted in bad faith and violated its duty of fair representation
11
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by pre-negotiating health, dental, life insurance, retirement, substance abuse and
potentially other bargaining concessions at the expense of Plaintiffs and other
registered nurses in exchange for “thing[s] of value” from Affinity and/or CHS whose
payment and delivery violates §§ 302(a) and (b).
40. Unless enjoined by this Court, NNOC will continue to breach its duty of fair
representation as described in Counts I-IV, thereby causing further harm, damage
and injury to Plaintiffs.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF
Plaintiffs request judgment from the Court as follows:
A. A declaratory judgment that NNOC has acted in bad faith and breached its duty
of fair representation, and that the Pre-Negotiated Agreement and any related
agreement is null, void, and unenforceable;
B. Injunctive relief that prohibits NNOC from enforcing or abiding by the
Pre-Negotiated Agreement and from otherwise making bargaining concessions at
the expense of Plaintiffs and their co-workers in exchange for Affinity and/or CHS’s
assistance with unionizing Plaintiffs or other registered nurses;
C. Damages for any losses that Plaintiffs have suffered or will suffer as a result of
the Pre-Negotiated Agreement, to include any adverse changes to their health,
dental, life insurance, or retirement benefits caused by NNOC’s breaches;
E. Nominal damages; and
F. All other relief found to be just and proper, including but not limited to costs and

attorney fees.
12
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Respectfully submitted,

/s/ James L. Messenger

James L. Messenger (#0009549)
Richard J. Thomas (#0038784)
Henderson, Covington, Messenger, Newman &
Thomas Co., L.P.A.

6 Federal Plaza Central, Suite 1300
Youngstown, Ohio 44503

Telephone: 330.744.1148

Facsimile: 330.744.3807
]Jmessenger@hendersoncovington.com
rthomas@hendersoncovington.com

William L. Messenger (Va. Bar. 47174)*
*Pro Hac Vice Motion to Be Filed

c/o National Right to Work Legal Defense

Foundation

8001 Braddock Road, Suite 600

Springfield, Virginia 22160

Telephone: 703.321.8510

Facsimile: 703.321.9319

wlm@nrtw.org

Attorneys for Plaintiffs
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